IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CARLOS OMAR MEJIA ,

Respondent.

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0325791

JEAN-JACQUES DARIUS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0997780

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, CARLOS OMAR MEJIA, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The pertinent history and facts are set out in the decision of the lower tribunal, attached in slip opinion form [hereinafter referenced as "slip op."] as Appendix A; it also can be found at 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1355 (Fla. 1st DCA June 13, 1996). In the slip op., the district court affirmed the respondent's convictions and sentences, but ruled that a violation of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180(a)(4), right to be present at sidebar jury challenges, is fundamental error that needs not be preserved. On 19 June 1996, the State promptly filed a motion for rehearing or certification,

and the following day, the respondent filed a similar motion. On 12 July 1996, the First District Court of Appeals entered an order denying both motions, attached as Appendix B.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In the slip op., the district court held that a violation of the Coney rule [8.140(a)(4)], a defendant's physical absence from a bench conference to challenge jurors, "constitutes fundamental error, which may be raised for the first time on appeal, notwithstanding the lack of contemporaneous objection." The slip op. conflicts with this Court's decision in Gibson. Moreover, the issue is of great public importance because it is a major expansion of both Ray² and Coney³/Gibson.

Gibson v. State, 661 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 1995).

²Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981).

²Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

IS THERE EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND THIS COURT'S DECISIONS?

Jurisdiction

Fetitioner contends that this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, §3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court . . . [m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct."

Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

Conflict

The decision below is in express and direct conflict with Gibson. A cursory review of the slip op. relative to Coney and Gibson shows that the slip op. contradicts this Court's actions and statement in those cases. The district court misapprehended the point of law regarding fundamental error.

In <u>Ray</u>, <u>supra</u>, the supreme court quashed the Second DCA's finding of fundamental error, and noted that the doctrine of fundamental error is an exception to the contemporaneous objection rule. The Court explained the doctrine of fundamental error as follows:

This Court has previously refused to adopt an absolute rule that would allow a defendant to object for the first time on appeal. We refuse to do so in this instance as well. Fundamental error has been defined as "error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action." The appellate courts, however, have been cautioned to exercise their discretion concerning fundamental error "very guardedly." We agree with Judge Hubbart's observation that the doctrine of fundamental error should be applied only in the rare cases where a jurisdictional error appears or where the interests of justice present a compelling demand for its application.

An accused, as is required of the state, must comply with established rules of procedure designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence. The failure to object is a strong indication that, at the time and under the circumstances, the defendant did not regard the alleged fundamental error as harmful or prejudicial. "It is well-established law that where the trial judge has extended counsel an opportunity to cure any error, and counsel fails to take advantage of the opportunity, such error, if any, was invited and will not warrant reversal."

Contrary to the cases that Ray relies on, the district courts have also found that instructing on a crime not charged does not necessarily constitute reversible error. These cases have supported convictions based on crimes not specifically charged because of invited error, waiver, and/or estoppel.

Ray at 960-61. (Emphasis added) (citations omitted).

In <u>Coney v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009, (Fla. 1995), this Court ruled that Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180(a)(4) means that

a defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. (Citation omitted). Where this is impractical, such as where a bench conference is required, the defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. In such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Alternatively, the defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made. (Citation omitted). Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of the strikes through proper inquiry. Our ruling today clarifying this issue is prospective only.

Coney at 1113. In the initial Coney opinion, the supreme court stated that "no contemporaneous objection by the defendant is required to preserve this issue for review, since the defendant cannot be imputed with a lawyer's knowledge of the rules of criminal procedure." However, in its final opinion after renearing, the supreme court deleted that provision. Coney v. State. 653 So. 2d 1009, 1013 (Fla. 1995). Nine months after this Court rendered the Coney decision, it decided Gibson, and said:

During a small portion of a long jury selection process, Gibson's lawyer asked the trial court whether he

³Coney v. State 20 Fla. L. Weekly S16, S17 (Fla. January 05, 1995).

could take a ten-minute recess to permit him to consult with his client:

Mr. Rinard: Your Honor, if I may have--if we may take an afternoon recess so I may have ten minutes or so to speak with Mr. Gibson to advise him of some things and see how he would like for me to proceed.

The Court: Let's proceed with this round. Are there any additional challenges for cause?

By this exchange, it is apparent the trial court implicitly denied counsel's request for a recess, and directed counsel to proceed with his challenges for cause. The record reflects that immediately thereafter, without further comment or objection, Gibson's counsel began making challenges for cause to the jury panel.

Based on this brief exchange, Gibson claims error in two respects. First, he argues that the trial court violated his right to be present with counsel during the challenging of jurors by conducting the challenges in a bench conference. Second, he argues that the trial court violated his right to the assistance of counsel by denying defense counsel's request to consult with Gibson before exercising peremptory challenges.

In Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla.1982), we said that, "in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion In this case, we find that Gibson's lawyer did not raise the issue that is now being asserted on appeal. If counsel wanted to consult with his client over which jurors to exclude and to admit, he did not convey this to On the record, he asked for an the trial court. afternoon recess for the general purpose of meeting with his client. Further, there is no indication in this record that Gibson was prevented or limited in any way from consulting with his counsel concerning the exercise of juror challenges. On this record, no objection to the court's procedure was ever made. In short, Gibson has demonstrated neither error nor prejudice on the record

before this Court. Cf. Coney v. State, 653 So.2d 1009, 1013 (Fla.1995) (holding trial court's error in conducting pretrial conference where juror challenges were exercised in absence of defendant was harmless beyond reasonable doubt).

Gibson at 290-1 (Fla. 1995) (emphasis added).

 $r_{\bullet} = - v_{\bullet} = v_{\bullet}$

Returning to the instant slip op., the district court stated that it is unwilling to read too much into the deletion that this Court made in its revision of Coney. However, the direct and express conflict occurs, when the district court announced that a viclation of the Coney rule [8.140(a)(4)], a defendant's physical absence from a bench conference to challenge jurors, "constitutes fundamental error, which may be raised for the first time on appeal, notwithstanding the lack of contemporaneous objection." As Judge Lawrence properly argued in his dissent, this language is not reconcilable with this Court's opinion in Gibson. See also United States v. McCoy, 8 F. 3d 495, 496-7 (7th Cir 1993) (explaining that the United States Supreme Court interpreted Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 43(a), a federal rule similar to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.180(a)(4), to mean that "[a] defendant may not assert a Rule 43 right for the first time on appeal"; where a defendant "did not invoke Rule 43 either during trial or in a post-trial motion, he has waived any right under that rule.") (Emphasis added).

Question of great public importance.

Notwithstanding the district court's hasty dismissal of this Court's action in Coney upon rehearing, and statement in Gibson at 290-1, its conclusion that "a violation of that rule [3.180(a)(4)] constitutes fundamental error," is a major expansion of the fundamental error rule as set out in Ray which directly and expressly conflicts with both Gibson and Coney. Thus, the question is one of great importance that is within the exclusive domain of this Court. See Witt v. State, 465 So. 2d 510, 512 (Fla. 1985) ("only this Court and the United States Supreme Court can adopt a change of law sufficient to support a post-conviction challenge."). In addition, the instant case also has an underlying "pipeline" issue, for which this Court has granted review as a question of great public importance. Lett v. State, 668 So. 2d 1094 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), rev. granted, No. 87,541 (Fla. July 1, 1996); Lee v. State, 670 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), rev. granted, No. 87,715 (Fla. July 10, 1996).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the instant order.