IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

ν.

CASE NO. 88,568

Calls

CARLOS OMAR MEJIA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

p. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, APPELLATE INTAKE DIVISION LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FL,. 32301 (904) 488-2458

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT FLA. BAR** #197890

	PAGE(S)

-ii-

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

## Petitioner,

V. CASE NO. 88,568 CARLOS OMAR MEJIA,

Respondent.

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION

### I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as <u>Mejia v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1355 (Fla. 1st DCA June 13, 1.996). Mr. Mejia also filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on August 5, 1996, and his jurisdictional brief is filed contemporaneously herewith.

## II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Mejia accepts the state's recitation at PB at 1-2, with the following clarifications. The lower tribunal's decision recites that after Mr. Mejia participated in two bench conferences during jury selection, three more unreported bench conferences occurred, at which the defense attorney exercised peremptory challenges:

> Appellant was charged by indictment with first-degree murder and robbery. Jury selection commenced on January 23, 1995, eighteen days after release of the opinion *in Coney v. State*, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 116 S.Ct. 315, 133 L.Ed.2d 218 (1995).

> > $\star$

Although appellant, a native of Honduras, spoke and understood some English, at his request, an interpreter was appointed to translate during the trial. The record reflects that counsel and the trial court were aware of the recently released *Coney* opinion, and that they attempted to comply with what they understood its holding to require. When it came time to discuss challenges to the prospective jurors, the trial court, counsel, appellant and the interpreter all adjourned to chambers, at which point the transcript reflects the following:

THE COURT: All right.

 $\star$ 

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: (To the Interpreter) You tel.1 him this is a hearing, and he has a right to be here any time. He can waive it, though, like during the trial when the lawyers go up to the bench to see the judge. We may be discussing an objection or some legal point. He can waive his coming up to the bench, or- he can come up there and

2

have you come up and say what is going on.

THE DEFENDANT: (In English) Okay.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL] : Well--

THE INTERPRETER: It is okay.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Is he waiving it?

THE DEFENDANT: (In English) Yes.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Good idea. Okay.

After three prospective jurors had been stricken for cause, the trial court: asked counsel whether they wished to address peremptory challenges in chambers, or in the courtroom. With appellant still present in chambers, defense counsel responded:

> If I can have a moment, Judge, I may be able to kind of-I had told the defendant to look them over and tell me, too, and he had a couple. 1 will see if we can--I can do some of our peremptories now, provided we have an additional opportunity when I see who is in the box.

Defense counsel then struck three jurors, after which he said that he "would like for the defendant to have an opportunity when we put them back in the box to just take a quick look at them."

After everyone, including appellant, had returned in the courtroom, the trial court dismissed the stricken jurors, replacing them with new prospective jurors. After- the new jurors had been questioned, the trial court asked counsel if they needed "a moment." Defense counsel responded in the affirmative. It is apparent that defense counsel then conferred with appellant regarding the prospective jury panel. Defense counsel then asked if counsel could approach the bench, saying that "we did waive that

other matter, for the record," an obvious reference to the fact that. appellant had waived his right to be present at bench conferences. Although the transcript. reflects that a bench conference followed, it was not recorded. Clearly, however,, the subject was peremptory challenges, as seven additional prospective jurors were Additional jurors were called excused. and questioned. The trial court again asked if counsel needed "a minute," and defense counsel again responded in the affirmative. Again, it is apparent that defense counsel conferred with appellant. Another unreported bench conference took place, after- which defense counsel said, "Judge, I want the record to reflect that the defendant has waived his presence at these bench conferences." Seven additional jurors were then excused. These jurors were replaced and, after the replacements had been questioned, another unreported bench conference took place . Four more jurors were excused, after which both parties accepted the panel. The record reflects that defense counsel exercised all. ten of his peremptory challenges.

Appendix at 1-3.

The lower tribunal assumed that C<u>onev v. State</u>, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), applied to Mr. Mejia's trial:

> The supreme court's failure to elucidate as to its intent when it pronounced that the holding in Coney Was to be "prospective only" (653 So.2d at 1013) has engendered considerable confusion, in both trial and appellate courts, regarding the applicability of the holding to "pipeline," and other, cases. E.g., Lett v. State, 668 So.2d 1094 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (certifying question of great public importance on motion for rehearing). However, because we conclude that appellant is not entitled to a new trial even if Coney applies, we find it unnecessary to undertake the task of prognostication in an effort to divine the court's intent regarding those cases to which Coney will apply. Instead, we assume, for purposes of

this opinion, that Coney does apply.

Appendix at 4.

The lower tribunal found that it was error for the trial judge not to ensure that Mr. Mejia's waiver of his right to be present at the three bench conferences was intelligent and voluntary:

> Although it is apparent that, at trial, all parties concerned were attempting to comply with what they understood the recently released *Coney* decision to require, it is equally apparent that the trial court failed fully to comply with the rule laid down. A waiver of appellant's right to be present at bench conferences during which peremptory challenges were exercised was obtained. However, the trial court failed either to ensure, "through proper inquiry," that appellant's waiver was intelligent and voluntary; or to obtain an intelligent and voluntary ratification of the jury chosen. Id. This was error. Accordingly, we must next determine whether there is any reasonable possibility that this error had an adverse impact on appellant's right to a fair trial .

Appendix at 5.

But Lhe lower tribunal held that the <u>Coney</u> violation was harmless error:

Accordingly, we hold that the trial court's fail ure to ensure that appellant's waiver of his right to be present at the bench conferences during which peremptory chall enges were exercised was intelligent and voluntary, or to obtain an intelligent and voluntary ratification of the jury chosen, was harmless.

Appendix at 5.

## III SUMMARY OF THE ARGIJMENT

Mr. Mejia will point out in this brief that the state has not demonstrated any express and direct conflict on the same question of law, but he agrees that this Court should accept -urisdiction for the reasons stated in his separate :urisdictional brief -- that where peremptory challenges, as cpposed to challenges for cause, are exercised in the absence cf the defendant, the error cannot be harmless.

#### IV ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT JURISDICTION OVER THIS CASE. The state's brief claims conflict with <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 288 (Fla. 1995), R<u>ay v. State</u>, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981), and Coney v. <u>State</u>, *supra*. The lower tribunal held that it is fundamental error for Lhe judge to allow the defense attorney to exercise peremptory challenges at the bench without the defendant being present and without the defendant having given an intelligent and voluntary waiver of his right to be present.

<u>Gibson</u> and <u>Coney</u> held that it was not fundamental error for the judge to entertain challenges for cause during jury selection, without the defendant being physically present at the bench. Ray held that instructing the jury on an improper lesser included offense was not fundamental error.

However, Mr. Mejia also filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on August 5, 1996, to review the lower tribunal's holding that the error in allowing his attorney to exercise peremptory challenges at three bench conferences in hi:; absence was harmless. In his jurisdictional brief, filed contemporaneously herewith, Mr. Mejia has argued that this holding conflicts with several prior decisions of this Court: <u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 1982) (could not be harmless error for attorney to exercise peremptory challenges out of the defendant's presence); State v.\_DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986)

7

(test for harmless error-); State v. Upton, 658 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 1995) (per se reversible error to accept lawyer's written waiver of jury trial); Gilliam v. State, 514 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 1987) (per se reversible error for judge to prohibit "backstriking" before the jury is sworn); State v. Guess, 613 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1993) (per se reversible error for judge to decline to receive the defendant's testimony on the voluntariness of his confession); State v. Franklin, 618 So. 2d 1'71 (Fla. 1993) (per se reversible error to reinstruct the jury in the absence of the defendant and hi:; counsel); and Mills v. State, 620 So. 2d 1006 (Fla. 1993) (per se reversible error to reinstruct the jury without giving counsel the cpportunity to object, even if the instruction is correct).

Thus, Mr. Mejia joins the state in asking this Court to accept review,

### V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, Mr. Mejia asks this Court to accept -urisdiction over this case

Respectfully Submitted,

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Hough Buitunese

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER Fla. Bar No. 197890 Assistant Public Defender, Chief, Appellate Intake Division Leon County Courthouse Suite 401 301 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL. 32301 (904) 488-2458

Attorney for Respondent